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2019 was an incredible milestone 
for Macra na Feirme as we marked 
75 years since 12 rural science 
teachers, advisers and young 
farmers founded our organisation 
in 1944.  What began as a simple 
concept involving agricultural and 
horticultural evening education 
with discussion groups, practical 
training and agricultural advice 
has grown and developed into the 
organisation of today, with the core 
objectives as valid now as then.  
Issues driving the foundation of 
Macra na Feirme in post-World War 
II Ireland included access to land, 
access to finance, improved farming 
practices and a desire for a better 
quality of life. 

During 2019, Macra na Feirme surpassed 10,000 
members for the first time in decades.  We continue 
to attract significant membership with subscriptions 
levels rising by a net 18% year on year.  The online 
portal for renewals and first-time subscriptions which 
was introduced in late 2017 has saw a doubling of 
members opting to join or renew online.  We expect 
this trend to continue and are investing significantly 
in a member’s area online to support this increase in 
digitization. 

For those members, Macra na Feirme continues to 
advocate to government and EU institutions for 
programmes and initiatives that improve the quality 
of life and farming practices of current and future 
young custodians of the land.  Macra na Feirme 
lobbied on 58 matters of importance to members 
during 2019, ranging from rural broadband, climate 
change, and a national reserve, amongst many others.  
Based on returns to the lobby register, Macra na 
Feirme are consistently the 3rd most prolific lobbying 
organisation to government.   

In 2019, our media efforts reached 363.3 million 
views or readers across 218 publications and 
generated an advertising value equivalent of €8.5m.  
We reached more than 1.2m people through our 
social media portals, mainly Facebook and Twitter.  

As CEO, I have the extraordinary 
privilege of seeing the 
transformative impact that Macra 
membership has on the lives of 
young people.  Through Macra 
membership, extraordinary 
opportunities are created and 
presented for our young people.  
One such opportunity, was our 
participation for the first time in 
the Dublin Pride Parade in June 
2019.  That participation and the 
subsequent LGBT+ awareness 
training afforded to all staff and 170 
club officers signals an inclusive and 
welcoming place for all rural young 
people, yet we still have more work 
to do.  

As we look to the future, the challenges are immense.  
Little did we think at the end of 2019, that we would 
be in the midst of the worst global pandemic caused 
by Covid19 by St. Patrick’s Day.  In Macra na Feirme, 
we are aware of the public health impacts and the 
need to comply with the government advice and 
guidance.  We are also acutely aware of the mental 
health impacts that will be felt by members right 
across the country.  

I want to thank our dedicated staff for their 
contribution to the advancement of the organisation 
and support to members throughout the year.  I also 
want to thank of diverse range of sponsors for their 
tremendous financial support without which we could 
not provide the range of services we do. We owe a 
massive thank you to our officers and members who 
volunteer countless hours to assisting each other, 
the local organisation and the national organisation. 
Finally, to the outgoing Board members and National 
Council Representatives, thank you for your service 
to the national organisation and best wishes to the 
incoming officers. 

Ar Aghaidh le Macra na Feirme 

Denis Duggan 
Chief Executive 

CEO Address

As a member of Macra na Feirme, 
it was an honour to be elected 
Chairperson of the Board in 
May 2019. I would to like to 
acknowledge and thank Thomas 
Duffy for his work as Chair in the 
earlier half of 2019. 

It gives me great pleasure to report 
on Macra na Feirme’s activities for 
the year ending 31 December 2019. 
This report has been prepared 
in line with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice for Charities 
(the Charity SORP).  

Each year we face the challenge 
of ensuring we have sufficient 
resources to provide the level and 
quality of service to our members  
and 2019 was no different. The Directors’ report, in 
conjunction with the Financial Statements, provides  
a detailed review of the activities and achievements 
of Macra na Feirme for the year and highlights  
how our activities have linked into our strategic  
goals. 

Over the past number of years the Board of Macra 
na Feirme has engaged in a process of updating its 
governance procedures, 2018 saw us transferring 
to CLG and 2019 saw us building on this. To support 
the work of the board we established the HR and the 
Governance sub-committees.

2019 was a significant year for 
Macra na Feirme, as it celebrated 75 
years of supporting and educating 
young farmers and rural youth. Huge 
thanks is due to the 75th Committee 
who organised a range of events 
during the year to celebrate this 
milestone, FBD for their generous 
financial support and of course 
none of this would have been 
possible without the dedication and 
enthusiasm of our staff members 
and members in clubs and counties 
the country wide. 

I would like to express my gratitude 
to all fellow Board members 
both past and present for their 
commitment, co-operation and 
support during the year, and to our 

non-board members of our various sub-groups for 
their time, interest and expertise.

I would also like to thank all of our members, funders, 
supporters, and those we collaborate with, for their 
support, encouragement and commitment during 
2019.

Finally I would like to thank the staff members who 
worked with Macra na Feirme during 2019 for their 
hard work, dedication and commitment. 
 
Marie Harnett 
Chairperson of the Board

Chairperson’s Statement
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About Macra na Feirme 

Our Vision & Mission

Vision
The vision for Macra na Feirme is of a member-led 
organisation which is recognised by young people, 
decision-makers and society in general as a key 
resource for rural young people including young 
farmers and as their authentic voice; which provides 
a sense of belonging to an extensive and committed 
membership; and which is actively supported in 
fulfilling its mission by both the state and civil 
society.

Mission 
The mission of Macra na Feirme is to contribute to 
the sustainable development of rural communities 
in Ireland by supporting the social, economic, 
cultural, personal development and well-being of 
young people who have a rural connection including 
young farmers, by representing their interests in 
the development and implementation of relevant 
policies, programs and services at national, regional 
and local levels and by advocating on their behalf.

Our Values
 ■ Respect for all internally and externally as well as 

for the built and natural environments. 
 ■ Transparency both internal and external for all 

its activities including how it handles its financial 
matters, how decisions are made and how its 
activities are run.

 ■ Commitment to the organisation and its functions 
and activities

 ■ Inclusion in its remit of all young people with a 
connection to rural Ireland

 ■ Service to the communities in which Macra na 
Feirme is based.

 ■ Integrity in the manner in which it pursues all its 
activities.

 ■ Excellence and Innovation in the service it 
provides to its members and to the wider 
community. 

 ■ Comradeship amongst all its members in whatever 
part of the organisation they are engaged.

 ■ Volunteering and volunteerism as fundamental 
principles for the organisation at the heart of the 
Macra na Feirme model and organisation.

 ■ Democratic decision-making within the 
organisation.

 ■ Collaboration with other like-minded 
organisations and individuals as a way of working.

Where we work
Macra na Feirme has almost 200 clubs spread  
across the 26 counties of the Republic of Ireland.  
Those 200 clubs support a wider base of communities 
as many clubs cross several traditional parish 
boundaries.

It has been an incredible honour to serve 
this year as your President. Looking back 
at the year 2019, which this report covers, 
we can see it has been an eventful year. 
2019 was a time of great change and 
great challenges, a year where prices to 
producers and climate began to come 
centre stage. Macra na Feirme worked 
through the beef negotiations to emphasise 
the need to move the industry forward 
and reward young modern farmers. Macra 
has become a voice for young farmers and 
rural youth in climate action. For the first 
time ever Macra members attended the 
UN International on climate change. Now 
Macra calls on all representatives, at EU 
and National level to ensure investments in 
these areas meet the goals.

Throughout 2019 the Ag Affairs committee has built on 
its efforts on behalf of young farmers. During 2019 Ag 
Affairs finalised our National Beef Policy through extensive 
consultation with the membership which helped inform 
our position during the beef crisis negotiations. In addition 
to national engagement via the representation on CAP 
Consultative committee and 2030 Agrifood Strategy meetings, 
the views of young farmers through their representatives 
on Ag Affairs also contributed to six formal consultations at 
EU level. Both budget and election provided an opportunity 
for Macra to represent its membership through its policy 
development committees. This took the form of the prebudget 
submission and lobbying alongside it as well as the creation 
of 10 key elections demands presented during the election. 
Ag Affairs also began to utilize technology to broaden the 
message by sharing each of the news releases via Whatsapp. 
I would like to thank Jennifer Keegan, who moved on to other 
opportunities during the year, for her work as Staff Policy 
Officer for her work contributing to our policy and especially 
for her work during the beef negotiations.

Our Rural Youth Committee rolled out their successful 
calendar, giving advice and direction to county Rural Youth 
officers of key focus areas for each month. These ranged 
from gender specific health issues, to mental wellbeing and 
safety around sun. Ahead of the election, the committee 
also contributed 10 demands for political parties on behalf 
of young rural people as part of our key elections demands. 
Another key area of focus during 2019 was the work 
organizing the successful Wellness Weekend run by the Rural 
Youth committee, a great opportunity for members to focus on 
their own wellbeing.

Our competitions remain a key driver of activity and personal 
development for members. The work of the Competitions 
committee is key to ensuring the smooth running and fairness 
of all competitions. This year the work of reviewing certain 
competitions continued, including the significant changes to 
the farm skills, which has long been considered necessary by 
members. On a more strategic approach the committee also 

included efforts to broaden the attendance 
at competitions including promoting the 
national 20X20 campaign which encourages 
more female involvement in sports. 

Our committees were successful throughout 
2019, a year that was marked with great 
challenges and uncertainty from changing 
Brexit dates and EU trade deals with 
Mercosur countries to the beef crisis. It was 
always expected that 2019 would be one of 
turmoil from external forces but we could 
not have predicted just how tumultuous 
it would turn out to be. At the time of 
writing, the world is currently besieged by 
a pandemic that has caused devastating 
loss of life and mass disruption to people’s 
income and working arrangements. Macra 
has had to adapt in ways never seen before 

and we are managing to do so effectively.

We must look for upsides in the awful situation we currently 
face and we do find some small areas of hope. As a society 
we have recognised the importance of our healthcare system 
along with food producers and a resilient food chain. Farmers 
have been rightly considered key essential works as have 
those working throughout food processing, transport, and 
retail. After years of dismissal this crisis has triggered a 
proper recognition for our healthcare workers, including 
nurses, doctors, those in support roles and those working in 
our nursing homes. Secondly, what has long been considered 
impossible has been achieved. Roads have quietened 
with a corresponding fall in transport emissions. Meetings 
which normally entail air travel have now switched to more 
sustainable and more convenient video calls. Similarly, remote 
working has been embraced by even the most reluctant. For 
these areas of hope to develop into new attitudes and new 
practices we must ensure that we continue with our role 
in policy development and advocacy. This is not a time to 
become complacent, we cannot waste the lessons learned 
from this crisis and allow the forward movement to backslide. 

In reflecting on the end of my first year as National President, I 
would like to say how much the clubs and individual members 
have inspired me. Many have found creative and new ways to 
embrace change. So many have given so much of their time 
and energy, from our national officers including our National 
Chair, Treasurer and Secretary to our subcommittee members 
to the numerous club and county officers. My Vice Presidents 
have been a huge support during this time and have shown 
real leadership in their regions along with their other duties 
on committees and the Board. I know that the challenges we 
will face in the coming year will only be overcome through the 
grit, determination, and the collective work of all members. 

Yours in Macra,

Thomas Duffy 
National President 2019-2021

President’s address
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Who we are 
Macra na Feirme is the representative organisation for Ireland’s young farmers and rural young people aged 
between 17 and 35 years old. The organisation is a registered charity that represents and supports the growth 
and personal development of its members through six thematic areas of activity – Agriculture, Public Speaking, 
Sports, Travel, Performing Arts and Community. 

What we do
We represent the views of over 10,000 members in almost 200 clubs all over Ireland. Macra na Feirme clubs are 
organised into 31 county/regional executives covering the twenty-six counties of Ireland with Cork divided into 
five regions and Tipperary into two regions. 

We provide a comprehensive range of advice, information and training programmes for young farmers and 
young people primarily based in rural communities through our Macra Agricultural Skillnet Programme. 
Additionally, we undertake advocacy with policy makers, legislators and funders on behalf of our membership 
to secure an appropriate political, legal and operational environment for young farmers in Ireland and Europe. 
We are well respected and very active advocates on behalf of young farmers with European policy makers in 
our own right and through our membership CEJA, the European Council of Young Farmers.



Agriculture Affairs Committee
From changing Brexit crash out dates, to EU trade 
deals with Mercosur countries to huge volatility in the 
Irish beef sector, 2019 was a year of uncertainty in the 
agriculture industry 2019 

The agriculture affairs committee and its sub 
committees consist of young farmers from across 
the country who voluntarily met more than twenty 
times over 2019. The committee provides a forum 
for young farmers to formulate policies and produce 
lobby material. These policies are informed by the 
committee itself but also the wider Macra Na Feirme 
membership through meetings held across the 
country each year. 

Policy Work
Policy development and member representation has 
been to the core of the committee’s work and ethos, 
which was evident in 2019.

Macra na Feirme agricultural policy documents
Recent examples of the committee’s commitment to 
policy development include our Beef Policy that was 
launched in April and our Employment policy.

CAP Consultation with Macra members
2019 also saw eight 
Common Agricultural 
Policy (CAP) meetings 
which were held around 
the country to get the 
views of young farmers 
on the issues relating 
to them in the next CAP. 
Issues such as generational 
renewal, overall CAP 
Budget, environmental 
pressures were all brought 
to the fore. The committee is continuing its work in 
relation to policy formulation for the next CAP and 
representation has and will continue to be made, both 
at government level and at EU level. 

Continued communication with members is crucial 
to ensure that member’s realities are reflected in the 
policies that the Ag Affairs committee formulate. This 
is an ongoing work in progress and the committee 
recognise that improvements are essential into the 
future. 

Committee Work And Advocacy

8 
meetings 

– Clonmel, 
Claremorris, Carrick 

on Shannon, Kilkenny, 
Birr, Dunmanway, 
Limerick, Navan, 

Cavan

Our 11 Strategic Goals

Goal
1

To establish significant, diverse and stable 
funding bases at national and club levels 
which assist in the achievement of the 
organisation’s strategic goals.

Goal
5

To establish a system of Governance which 
is efficient, effective and responsive; 
which allows Macra na Feirme to actively 
participate in policy development across 
a range of relevant issues at national, 
regional and local levels; which complies 
with existing and emerging legal and 
administrative requirements; and which 
allows the effective management of 
organisational risk.

Goal
9

To create an organisation in which the roles 
of volunteers and staff are more clearly 
defined and in which mutual respect is 
enhanced as a result of that clarity.

Goal
3

To increase the level of engagement 
of members with the activities of the 
organisation at all levels and to provide 
support to agreed organisation initiatives.

Goal
7

To generate an enhanced profile amongst 
decision makers so that it is seen as a body 
to be automatically consulted and respected 
on matters relating to rural youth, young 
farmers and the rural community in general.

Goal
11

To comply with the processes and activities 
of the NQSF for Youth Work and other 
requirements of funders and regulatory 
bodies. 

Goal
2

To increase active membership throughout 
the country, including in those areas where 
the membership has been low historically 
and in those target groups which have been 
hard to reach.

Goal
6

To generate an enhanced profile amongst 
the general public so that Macra na Feirme 
is recognised as the authentic voice of 
rural youth, including young farmers, and 
is thereby more attractive to potential 
members.

Goal
10

To develop a strong, positive base of past 
members and of others committed to the 
development of rural areas which supports 
the organisation financially and otherwise 
and which assists it in achieving its goals.

Goal
4

To provide services and supports to young 
farmers which are related to the needs 
which they themselves have identified.

Goal
8

To create an organisational structure in 
which the role of each of its parts is clear to 
all and fit for current purpose and in which 
communication between all its parts is 
regular, clear and consistent.

Membership and New Clubs

Membership  10, 200 members

New Clubs
Borrisoleigh, North Tipperary
Claremorris, Mayo
Broomfield, Monaghan 
Skryne, Meath
Green Fields Headford, Galway

Ballinasloe District, Galway
GMIT, Galway
Bridevalley, Imokilly
Corca Dhuibhne, Kerry 
Ballyhea, Avondhu 

Revived Clubs
Greylakes Loughrea, Galway
Castlerea, Roscommon 
Kilrush, Clare
Geevagh, Sligo 
Ballycoog, Wicklow 
Cork City, Seandun 
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Continued communication with members 
is crucial to ensure that member’s 
realities are reflected in the policies that 
the Ag Affairs committee formulate. This 
is an ongoing work in progress and the 
committee recognise that improvements 
are essential into the future. 



Make the Moove started in Devilsbit Macra in August 2018. North Tipp has one of the highest 
rates of suicide among young people in the country and having the Macra club in the area, it 
was felt SafeTalk training (suicide prevention) would be useful. It was through seeking this 
course that the initial contact was made with the HSE who were looking to set up something 

for farmers health and wellbeing. The initial discussion centred around the key areas in North 
Tipp, the age demographic and the main areas that needed focus. From this discussion a strong 

partnership was established between Healthy Ireland, Midwest HSE Health promotion and Macra 
Na Feirme. 

In October of that same year, Jonathan Dwyer travelled to New Zealand (NZ) and reached 
out to Rural Support Trust to gain an insight into how they got set up and the overall 

running of the trust. While Jonathan was away, the remaining members of the 
steering group worked to develop the programme and the initial consultation 

process idea. The key learnings from NZ were that: it had to be farm led and 
driven; had to be independent from any private entity; and it had to have a 

rural focus. It was agreed that a consultation process was needed to create a 
body of research/findings to apply for funding.

Make The Moove trained nearly 30 people from across North Tipp over 
two evenings in facilitating and scribing. In total we ran 5 consultations 
with just short of 400 people attending across the 5 nights. The night 
opened with tea/coffees, followed by 2 speakers (1 young, 1 older) 

sharing their stories around dealing with stress and anxiety. We 
then moved rooms for more tea/coffee which encouraged people 

to talk more and provided a social element to the night. We then 
moved back to the original room for the round table discussions 
with our facilitators and scribes. 

We asked two main questions: What are the main issues 
affecting you? What are the possible solutions? The feedback 
was then compiled, and a report produced. Make the Moove then 

applied for further funding through Healthy Tipperary with the 
ambition of extending the programme to all of Tipperary, based on 

the findings of this report. This funding was used to compile the spring 
pack. This ‘spring pack’ contains helpful information around managing stress 

and also contains the personal stories of some of the farmers that spoke at our 
consultation meetings. Make The Moove also aims to use this funding to provide 
tailored, specifically designed training for farmers around stress management and 
recognising signs of stress and depression. 

We are continuing to work closely with the Rural Support in NZ and Northern 
Ireland in an effort to share resources and to work together on new projects. We 
are currently in contact with bodies in Canada who are progressive in their mental 
health policies with a specific focus on farmer’s mental health. There is also a 
significant level of research that is available and ongoing in mental health among 
farmers. We are also working with Irish bodies who offer services to try and come 
together to work on tailoring their programmes for farmers and rural people.

 The long-term goal of the programme is to have a complete rural support 
service for farmers and rural people alike. Make the Moove wants to be 
associated with positive mental health among farmers and rural people across 
the country. To achieve our ambition it is important that the programme is 
appropriately funded and resourced. This programme begun with farmers 
talking to farmers and remains centred around the core belief that farmers 
and rural people be allowed to design solutions for their own needs. 

Highlight: Make the Moove

Young Farmer Development Hubs
These were tailored hubs designed at giving 
young farmers the tools to develop their 
own county’s activities in relation to young 
farmers but also share their thoughts 
on the Ag industry with the committee 
in six locations across the country. The 
attendance across the country was 
immense and the feedback positive. It 
is crucial that the committee engage in 
such a fashion with members and continue 
to allow all members the opportunity to have 
their voice heard. 

Ensuring that Macra Na Feirme’s members are at the 
core of what the committee does is the central ethos 

of the Ag Affairs Committee. Huge credit must be 
given to the twenty voluntary members on the 

committee who contribute large amounts 
of time and work to progressing the 

concerns of young farmers. 2019 was 
a challenging year for young farmers 
across all sectors of Irish farming. The 
committee has worked very hard to 
ensure that young farmer’s voices are 

heard on all issues relating to them. The 
committee has a diverse background of 

farming enterprises and understand the 
issues that affect young farmers. The ambition 

for 2020 is to continue to develop the committee and 
to engage even more with the young farmers across 
all sectors, and across all regions. 

Beef Crisis 2019
The Beef Policy was informed through consultation with Macra Na Feirme members over the past eighteen 
months and every member was given the opportunity to contribute. It has been a huge year of uncertainty for 
young farmers particularly in the beef sector. Falling incomes and increased environmental and regulatory 
pressures have seen the viability of the sector called into question. Young farmers need a viable business 
if they are to enter into a sector whether that be, beef or any other sector. Throughout 2019 the Ag Affairs 
committee made numerous representations on behalf of young beef farmers, included was our involvement 
in the beef talks at the end of the summer. The committee will continue to engage with the Beef Taskforce and 
make representation on behalf of Ireland’s young beef farmers. 

6 
locations 

across the 
country   

Carrick-on-Shannon, 
Little Island, 

Ballinasloe, Trim  
& Limerick 

Focus group involvement/working with others in 
industry
Over the year, the committee engaged in numerous 
focus groups which will provide direction and a basis 
for various projects. Some of these included a focus 
group on developing a Continuous Professional 
Development Framework for Farmers from which a 
report was published in April. The committee also 
put together a proposal on the future of Ireland’s 
Nitrates Derogation. A group also discussed the 
design of an app which would allow Geo-Tagging 
for cross compliance. The discussion focused on a 
farmer friendly interface with a need for reduced red 
tape. This engagement will continue into 2020 as the 
process evolves. 

Public Consultations/Submissions to government
The Government regularly open public consultations 
on various issues. This offers members of the public 
the opportunity to have their say on issues and 
policy that will directly affect them. The Ag Affairs 
committee are acutely aware of the importance of 
engaging with these consultations to ensure that the 
view of young farmers is included in relevant policy. 
In 2019 the committee debated, formulated and 
presented numerous different submissions that were 
relevant to young farmers including:

 ■ Submission to the Joint Oirechteas Committee on 
Agriculture on Beef 

 ■ Submission to the Joint Oirechteas Committee on 
Agriculture on the Environment and Farming 

 ■ Submission on Nitrates Derogation
 ■ Submission on the Effectual Control of Dogs
 ■ Submission on Unfair Trading Practices in Ag Food 

Supply Chain
 ■ Submission on Agri Climate Roadmap 
 ■ Submission on Ag Food 2030
 ■ Submission on SWOT analysis of proposed CAP 

post 2020

Lobbying
Members of the committee met with Minister Bruton 
in the summer on environmental issues relating to 
farming, and the need for a fair distribution of change 
across all sectors of the economy. 

Members of the committee also met with officials 
from The Department of Agriculture, Department 
of Finance and Revenue around the Finance Bill 
regarding the taxation issues affecting young farmers 
introduced in budget 2018. 

The committee also presented their annual Pre 
Budget Submission to Minister Creed.
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Competitions is one of the most popular sections 
within the organisation, with high participation levels 
and social media presence. In 2019 392 members 
registered for competitions and increase over 2018. 
The success of competitions would not be possible 
without the continuing support from our generous 
sponsors, FBD, Bord Bia, National Dairy Council, Griffin 
Engineering, Kerrygold, The Irish Farmers Journal and 
Ornua. 

The competitions committee sets out the calendar 
which is approved by members and subsequently co-
ordinate, run and promote competitions throughout 
the year.  This would not be possible without the host 
counties, judges and presiding officers. Counties are 
encouraged to host at least one national competition 
a year, as it is a great learning experience for the 
members. The committee ran a presiding workshop as 
it is important to train up and refresh members in the 
running of competitions. 

Competitions exist to enjoy learning new skills, 
being part of a team, gaining confidence and self-
development. Participation is the most important 
factor within competitions, it is after all, the key to 
success!

Communications 
To maintain good communication from the committee 
to members, the committee has a What’s App group 
for county competitions officers and a competitions 
newsletter going out monthly. Committee members 
are assigned a county of responsibility to check in 
with and ensure competitions are running smoothly. 

Reviews
An important aspect of the committee is to review 
competitions based on member feedback.  Bowling, 
Team Public Speaking and Farm Skills have all been 
reviewed with Welding and Debating lined up for 
2020. 

Competitions 2019 Activities and Achievements 

Milestone: 20x20
After evaluating Macra sporting competitions, there was a desire to further develop the ladies’ side of the competitions. 
As a result, the competitions committee decided to join the Federation of Irish Sport’s 20x20 campaign, ‘If she can’t see 
it, she can’t be it’, in an effort to increase participation and promote ladies sports within the organisation. The launch of 
the ‘show you stripes’ campaign at Macra competitions has been met with a fantastic response.

Relationship Building
Relationships were built with the Irish Blood 
Transfusion Service to deliver a program for 
increasing the number of blood donors within 
Macra. Discussions were had in relation to the best 
strategy to deliver that program and the opportunity 
such a link up would bring to both organizations for 
publicity and increasing awareness. Discussions are 
still ongoing on strategies and timing to roll out the 
collaboration. 

Consultations
Rural Youth conducted the Rural Transport Survey, the 
findings are being compiled to inform a policy paper 
on rural transport.

A nationwide consultation took place with all counties 
on the issues their members face as a young person 
in rural Ireland. This consultation led to a wide range 
of findings on issues such as transport, broadband 
and housing amongst others. The findings of this 
consultation will be used to deliver future policy 
papers for the benefit of our youth.

Rural Youth Europe 
August saw Thomas Duffy, Shane Quigley, Cara O 
Mahony, Patrick Jordan and Fergal Bradley travel to 
Cirencester in England to the Rural Youth Europe 
European Rally. Also, at this event Macra na Feírme 
were officially awarded the hosting of the Autumn 
Seminar 2020 entitled Building Bridges: Creating an 
LGBT+ Positive Europe. 

Siobhan Gallagher and Shane Quigley attended the 
2019 Autumn Seminar in Switzerland as part of the 
international prep team while Áine McCarthy and 
Aoife Scanlon attended as participants.

Leadership Development
In September there was the first ever specific 
officer training for Rural Youth Officers at a county 
level which was well attended by 16 participants. 
The feedback from those receiving training was 
overwhelmingly positive and from this came the idea 
of creating an RY calendar for the year with a specific 
theme for each month. This calendar was launched to 
members at Club Officer Training in September. 

Raising Awareness through Rural Youth 
Calendar
In October, the theme was Mental Health Awareness 
and there were several posts on the national social 
media about Mental Health issues. Also, many clubs 
around the country hosted events/talks to tie in with 
this theme. 

November’s theme was men’s health and a highly 
successful talk was held for men attending the Queen 
of the Land festival on the signs and symptoms of 
testicular cancer with approx. 50 in attendance. 

Finally, December rounded off an excellent 2019 for 
Rural Youth with clubs around the country encouraged 
to host Walk and Talk events which encouraged 
members to get out and active and keep in touch with 
each other during the long winter evenings. 

Rural Youth 2019 Activities and Acheivements
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Best New Member
The Imagine Broadband 
Best New Member 
Award is a sub-category 
of the Club of the Year 
Competition. This 
award is presented to 
one individual member 
who is deemed by 
their club to have 
made a significant 
contribution to the 
development of the 
club during their first 
year of membership.

Leaders of the Year Awards
Annually Macra na Feirme and ABP hand out awards 
to outstanding leaders within the Macra organisation. 
In order to be eligible for a Leadership Award, the 
member must be a county officer. Contestants are 
selected out of the recipients of the President’s 
County Leadership Award winners and go forward to 
the national competition. The effects of leadership 
shown in increased membership, continuous and top-

class programmes, and innovation in club and county 
activity are a major consideration in judging.

The National Leadership final which was held in the 
Museum of Irish Literature (MOLI), Newman House, 
Dublin. The location of the final was symbolic to the 
75th Anniversary year of Macra na Feirme as this was 
where one of the first meetings took place.

2019: 23 
Applicants

2018: 14 
Applicants

Overall
Amy Rose 
Holden – 
Callan, Co. 
Kilkenny

Pauric 
Lucid, 

Co. Kerry

41 Leaders 
of the Year 
Certificates 

awarded

Roisin 
Lynch,  

Co. Cavan

6 
Finalists

Úna Ryan, 
South 

Tipperary

20 Presidents 
medal  

recipients and 
semi-finalists

3 
Winners

3 Winners:

48 Applicants

Events and Awards

Young Farmer of the Year
The 2019 Macra na Feirme/ FBD Young Farmer of the 
year saw 33 finalists travel to The Castleknock Hotel 
on 26 November 2019. Liam Hanrahan, a dairy farmer 
from Clare took home the top prize as he was crowned 
the 2019 FBD Macra Na Feirme Young Farmer of the 
Year. Liam holds a PhD in Dairy Farm Efficiency and has 
significant international farming experience in New 
Zealand and France. Hanrahan is currently the director 
of Callanview Farm Limited and an active member of 
Kilrush Macra.

44 
Applications

2019: 27 
Applicants

WINNER
Liam 

Hanrahan

33 
Finalists

Young Farmer of the Year Category winners
 ■ Shane Fitzgerald of Waterford won the Dairy 

category
 ■ Edward Egan of Roscommon won the Land Mobility 

category
 ■ Alan Doyle of Kilkenny won the Dry Stock Category
 ■ Daniel Hickey of Carbery won the Other Enterprises 

category

 ■ Sinead Conry of Roscommon won the Best Emerging 
Young Farmer Award

 ■ Sean Roddy of Kildare won the Most Climate Change 
Conscious Young Farmer Award

 ■ Thomas Kane of Cavan won the Best Young Farm 
Manager Award

Club of the Year
Introduction of a new sponsor Imagine Broadband. The 
Imagine Broadband Club of the Year competition is 
designed to encourage clubs to be dynamic and active, 
rewarding their achievements and contributions at 
both a local and national level.

Following a review of the competition, a new format 
was introduced in 2019. This new format resulted 
in a better geographical spread, higher number of 
entrants and allowed more interaction between clubs 
at the final. This new format allowed the final 15 clubs 
to showcase their clubs at the National Conference 
Weekend in October.

2018: 12 
Applicants

Overall 
Winners
Callan

Runners 
Up: 

Enfield & 
Ballinascarthy
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Macra Agricultural Skillnet, established by our 
contracting organisation, Macra na Feirme, in 2015 
is now one of the major Skillnet networks serving 
our members, young rural communities and those 
involved in the wider agri sector. Funded by Skillnet 
Ireland and member companies, our purpose is 
to drive upskilling and sustainability on all levels 
in the industry. To achieve this, we develop and 
organise a wide-ranging programme of subsidised 
training events, further education, and development 
programmes. 

The Skillnet Steering Group provides the strategic 
direction, oversight, and governance of the Network. 
The Group is comprised of 12 members representing 
Macra na Feirme regions/counties, the CEO, the 
President, the National Treasurer, Chair of the 
Agricultural Affairs Committee and three external 
members with industry expertise. The term of office 
of a Steering Groups is normally for the length of a 
Skillnet funding programme. The Steering Group   met 
on 10 occasions in 2019, with six face to face and four 
meetings by tele conference

In keeping with the trends of recent years, our 
Network budget, comprised of Skillet Ireland grants 
and matched income, continued to grow and 2019 
saw an increase of almost 30% on the previous year’s 
budget. The Network is now a recognised brand with 
our members and member companies and has also 
gained external recognition as a Network that delivers 
bespoke training programmes. 

We are proud of the impact of our training 
programmes on over 1000 trainees and their 
businesses and that Macra Agricultural Skillnet is now 
recognised as a leading innovator in training in the 
agri sector. The Network continued its programme of 
practical and high demand training in 2019, which 
included: 

 ■ Hoofcare (both one day preventative Workshops 
and the Professional Programmes) 

 ■ DIY AI
 ■ First Aid Responder and Health for Farming Cork 
 ■ Ultrasound Scanning  
 ■ Tractor Safety 
 ■ GDPR Training 
 ■ Governance Training 
 ■ Safe Agri Skills 
 ■ Chainsaw Safety 
 ■ Welding 
 ■ Drover Training
 ■ First Aid Responder & Health for Farming 
 ■ Dairy Operative Programmes
 ■ Dairy Business/Business Brush Up  
 ■ Strategic Management programmes 

Macra Agricultural Skillnet impacted significantly on 
the work of Macra na Feirme in 2019  through working 
on joint delivery and part funding across a range of 
programmes such as the National Leadership Awards, 
Farming Post Cap events, FBD Young Farmer Walks, 
the National Ploughing Championships and National 
Conference. We worked with our Macra na Feirme 
clubs and region, our Young Famer Development 
Groups and discussion groups in delivering and part 
funding local training needs. These events included 
workshops, evening information sessions and 
technical seminars. 

Our Network now regularly partners and collaborates 
with many organisations and groups to ensure we 
deliver service to as many enterprises in the industry 
as possible. Among the partnerships we forged and 
built on in 2019 where those with the Irish Farmers 
Journal, Teagasc, ASA, UCD and Farm Business Skillnet, 
where we delivered high impact education and 
training programmes on: 

 ■ Grassland Management Programmes 
 ■ Strategic Management for Farming with Teagasc 

and Smurfit Business School  
 ■ People Management Skills 
 ■ Masters in Agricultural Extension and Innovation 
 ■ Emerging Leaders Development programmes. 

Macra Agricultural Skillnet  
Impact Report 2019 

County Training
Participants
2019: 168
2018: 128

Participants review of County Officer training 

Please rate the following

Please rate the following statements

Would you recommend  
this training to others?

Club Training
Participants
2019: 247 attendees
2018: 148 attendees

Club Training saw a massive increase in numbers of 
officers attending. 

Participants review of Club Officer Training: 

Please rate the following

Please rate the following statements

Would you recommend  
this training to others?

Macra na Feirme is focused on developing 
tomorrow’s leaders of communities around 
Ireland. Macra leaders come from our clubs and for 
many members it is where they first experience a 
leadership role. Every year, Macra na Feirme holds 
induction training for our incoming officers at county 
and club level to help them succeed in their role. 
Hundreds of members attend these sessions held 
over two weekends, where motivational speakers 
address members and they receive training on the 

key challenges they will face in their role during the 
Macra na Feirme year.

In 2019, our keynote speaker for club officer training 
was Matt Kennedy from Belong To discussing 
LGBT+ inclusivity while the evening speaker and 
entertainment was Matin Beanz Warde. We welcomed 
Members of European Parliament Matt Carty and 
Maria Walsh as keynote speakers for county officer 
training.

Leadership Development
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Training Days
4530

10
Steering Group 

Meetings

Activities by 
numbers in 

2019 

Trainees
1073

Training 
Events
145

Courses
48

Continuing Professional Development Framework in Agriculture
Minister for Agriculture, Michael Creed, launched the “Development and Implementation of an Accredited 
Continuing Professional Development Framework in Agriculture” in April 2019. This research was 
commissioned by Macra na Feirme and managed and funded by Macra Agricultural Skillnet. The report 
identifies the critical components which should inform a CPD framework in Ireland through a review of existing 
CPD frameworks from other relevant sectors. Inputs from the farming and agricultural sector were sought and 
the results from surveys, focus groups and interviews are presented. 

Recommendations are made on how a CPD framework for the sector could be developed, operated, and 
established and how the Framework must be developed in partnership with all key stakeholders as such a 
system will not just benefit the individual but the entire sector.  

The overall conclusion from the research is that a CPD system for farming and agriculture is needed and would 
be welcomed. The next stage in the process is to engage in an industry wide discussion on how the framework 
can be developed and implemented. The recommendation was made that Macra Agricultural Skillnet should be 
the lead on establishing an advisory group which would develop the Framework proposed in this report. 

Full text of the Framework document  is available on our website page at  
https://macra.ie/downloads/skillnet/20

Course Highlight: Masters in Agricultural Extension and Innovation  
“My experience on the course has been nothing but positive. I have found the course organisers to be very 
accommodating whenever I have sought their help and advice which has been a significant benefit to me 
throughout the course. With course modules varying in diversity from Creative Thinking to Soil Resources there 
has always been something new to learn and a fresh challenge to overcome. Working on group projects within 
the course has also given me the opportunity to learn from my peers and this new network of contacts within 
the agri-industry has also provided benefits in my professional career. I would highly recommend this course 
for anybody involved in agriculture who is looking for a new academic challenge” - Kevin:  Class of 2018/2020 

A two-year part time and distance learning programme, delivered by UCD with our Network, which gives 
graduates the skills and knowledge to support farmers in business development and innovation. This course is 
aimed at agricultural professionals who are working in the industry and who want to undertake a postgraduate 
programme while continuing to work.

The programme is delivered on a blended learning approach where students complete modules and 
assignments directly as it relates to their work and through the online virtual learning environment. 
Assignments are based on real life case studies relating to the student’s own work environment, reflecting the 
norms of practice in consultancy, support, sales, and education services withing the industry. 

Modules include: 
 ■ Agricultural Extension and Innovation
 ■ The Reflective Agricultural Advisor 
 ■ Agricultural Education
 ■ Programme and Project Management 
 ■ Client Customer Relationships in Agricultural Work 
 ■ Group Approaches in Agriculture 
 ■ Understanding the Family Farm Business 
 ■ Research Methods 
 ■ Creative Thinking and a final Thesis 

Full text of the Framework document  is available on our website page at  
https://macra.ie/downloads/skillnet/20
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H.E. Brad Burgess, New Zealand Ambassador to Ireland was on hand 
to launch the book along with Anna May McHugh and Liam Herlihy, 
Chairman of FBD plc.  H.E Burgess spoke about the strong ties that bind 
Macra na Feirme to New Zealand including the 41 years of sending 
Stephen Cullinan Scholar’s to New Zealand every year.  L to R; Macra 
na Feirme National President Thomas Duffy; Liam Herlihy, FBD; Anna 
May McHugh, National Ploughing Association; H.E. Brad Burgess, New 
Zealand Ambassador to Ireland; and Denis Duggan, Macra na Feirme 
Chief Executive.

Macra’s 75th anniversary book that 
documents the history, through pictures, of 
the organisation from its creation to today. 
The book features photos throughout the 
decades of the many areas in which Macra 
has been engaged from the political side 
to the social side. The book was edited and 
compiled by former Macra Public Relations 
Officer, Joe Coffey who collected photos from 
members past and present to tell Macra’s 
story through the eyes of members. 

In 2019, Macra na Feirme marched in the Dublin Pride Parade in support of LGBTQ+ 
rights and inclusion. The event was supported by Macra members and staff, where 
Macra na Feirme was the first Irish farm organisation to march in a Pride event in 
Ireland. 

Macra na 
Feirme  
1944-2019: 
A History in 
Pictures

Dublin Pride Parade

75th Anniversary
During 2019, Macra na Feirme marked 
the 75th anniversary of its founding in 
Athy by Stephen Cullinan along with a 
group of 12 rural science teachers. The 
organisation is grateful to FBD Trust 
for supporting the organisation’s 75th 
Anniversary activities which included 
Reception at the National Capers Final 
hosted by Waterford Macra in February; 
our 75th Gala dinner after our AGM in 
Athy Co. Kildare; publication of Macra 
na Feirme: A History in Pictures 1944- 
2019 edited by Joe Coffey.  Many Macra 
clubs and county executives organised 
local events to celebrate the 75th 
anniversary including a commemoration 
by Kildare Macra at the Sundial in Athy; 
great debate at the Rally hosted by 
Avondhu Macra in October; along with 
a Presidential summer party event in 
Áras an Uachtaráin with USI; and many 
other events.  We want to acknowledge 
the support of countless volunteers 
and members in celebrating the year 
and members of the national 75th 
Commemorative committee including 
Flor Riordan, Seumas O’Brien, Terry 
Cooke, Kathleen Duffy, Una Ryan and 
Cara O’Mahony. They were joined by our 
two National Presidents that spanned 
the 75th year, James Healy and Thomas 
Duffy.  

Thomas Duffy and James Healy 
laying the commemorative 
wreath at the Macra sundial.

Kildare AGM committee members, from left to right; Stephen King, 
Siobhan Abrook, Thomas O’Connor, Emma Birchall, Cara O’Mahony, 
David Kelly, Lori Curtis, Joe Metcalfe, and Laura Cross.

Macra AGM booklet and the 
republished booklet on Stephen 
Cullinane, the founder of Macra 
na Feirme.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The Directors present their annual report together with the 
audited financial statements of the Charity for the year ended 31 
December 2019.

This is the first set of financial statements prepared by the 
Company in accordance with accounting standards issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council, including FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” 
(“FRS 102”) as modified by the Statement of Recommended 
Practice “SORP” effective 1 January 2019. Previously the 
company applied FRS 102 but did not apply the Statement of 
Recommended Practice “Accounting and Reporting by Charities” 
(FRS 102 Charities SORP). The Charity has applied the Charities 
SORP on a voluntary basis as its application is not a requirement 
of the current regulations for charities registered in the Republic 
of Ireland however it is considered best practice.

Reference and Administrative Details
The organisation is a charitable company with a registered office 
at Irish Farm Centre, Bluebell, Dublin 12. The Charity operates 
under the name Macra Na Feirme Iontaobaithe Cuideachta Faoi 
Theorainn Ráthaíochta. The registered number of the Company 
is 19920.

The Charity has been granted charitable tax status under 
Sections 207 and 208 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997, CHY 
number. 5725 and is registered with the Charities Regulatory 
Authority (Charity number 20009021).

Objectives and activities
a. Principal Activities
Who we are
Macra na Feirme is the representative organisation for Ireland’s 
young farmers and rural young people aged between 17 and 35 
years old. The organisation is a registered charity that represents 
and supports the growth and personal development of its 
members through six thematic areas of activity – Agriculture, 
Public Speaking, Sports, Travel, Performing Arts and Community.

What we do
We represent the views of over 10,000 members in almost 200 
clubs all over Ireland. Macra na Feirme clubs are organised into 
31 county/regional executives covering the twenty-six counties 
of Ireland with Cork divided into five regions and Tipperary into 
two regions.

We provide a comprehensive range of advice, information and 
training programmes for young farmers and young people 
primarily based in rural communities through our Macra 
na Feirme Skillnet Programme. Additionally, we undertake 
advocacy with policy makers, legislators and funders on behalf 
of our membership to secure an appropriate political, legal 
and operational environment for young farmers in Ireland and 
Europe. We are well respected and very active advocates on 
behalf of young farmers with European policy makers in our own 

right and through our membership CEJA, the European Council of 
Young Farmers.

Our Vision & Mission
Vision
The vision for Macra na Feirme is of a member-led organisation 
which is recognised by young people, decision- makers and 
society in general as a key resource for rural young people 
including young farmers and as their authentic voice; which 
provides a sense of belonging to an extensive and committed 
membership; and which is actively supported in fulfilling its 
mission by both the state and civil society.

Mission
The mission of Macra na Feirme is to contribute to the 
sustainable development of rural communities in Ireland by 
supporting the social, economic, cultural, personal development 
and well-being of young people who have a rural connection 
including young farmers, by representing their interests in the 
development and implementation of relevant policies, programs 
and services at national, regional and local levels and by 
advocating on their behalf.

Our Values
 ■ Respect for all internally and externally as well as for the built 

and natural environments.
 ■ Transparency both internal and external for all its activities 

including how it handles its financial matters, how decisions 
are made and how its activities are run.

 ■ Commitment to the organisation and its functions and 
activities.

 ■ Inclusion in its remit of all young people with a connection to 
rural Ireland.

 ■ Service to the communities in which Macra na Feirme is 
based.

 ■ Integrity in the manner in which it pursues all its activities.
 ■ Excellence and Innovation in the service it provides to its 

members and to the wider community.
 ■ Comradeship amongst all its members in whatever part of the 

organisation they are engaged.
 ■ Volunteering and volunteerism as fundamental principles for 

the organisation at the heart of the Macra na Feirme model 
and organisation.

 ■ Democratic decision-making within the organisation.
 ■ Collaboration with other like-minded organisations and 

individuals as a way of working.

b. Achievements and Performance
2019 marked the 3rd year of Macra na Feirme’s strategic plan 
“Rurally Active, Engaging & Transforming 2017- 2023”. The plan 
builds on the Macra na Feirme achievements and challenges 
of previous years and continues to position the organisation 
to meet the needs of Macra na Feirme members availing of our 
youth services across the country.

REFERENCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Directors Marie Harnett
 Thomas Duffy
 Una Ryan
 Sean Wallace
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 Colin Donnery, INED
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 Noel Flavin, INED (appointed 14 March 2020)
 Sharon Corcoran (resigned 11 May 2019)
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Macra na Feirme members and Macra Clubs are the heart of 
the organisation. They are our lifeblood. Clubs,  the variety of 
activities, and competition participation in clubs often vary 
depending on the local community and existing members. Clubs 
facilitate the participation of members in club decision making, 
governance and the day-to-day running of the clubs activities.

Here are some examples of highlights during 2019.
 ■ There were over 10,200 people involved in Macra’s clubs in 

2019 where we witnessed a substantial increase in members 
joining or renewing membership online.

 ■ In 2019, Macra na Feirme marched in the Dublin Pride Parade 
in support of LGBTQ+ rights and inclusion. The event was 
supported by Macra members and staff, where Macra na 
Feirme was the first Irish farm organisation to march in a Pride 
event in Ireland.

 ■ Attendance at this year’s National Club and County Officers 
training days exceeded all targets, where 415 officers were 
trained over the course of two days.

 ■ Macra na Feirme held a series of CAP Consultation Meetings 
throughout early January.

 ■ A national series of Young Farmer Development Group 
Training Hubs was held during summer to increase young 
farmer activity

 ■ 2019 saw the increase entry level in Macra na Feirme 
competitions from 2018 to 392 entries across Arts, Sports and 
Speaking competitions. Building on these and to achieve the 
aim to increase the participation of women in sport Macra na 
Feirme joined the 20X20 campaign

 ■ Macra’s relationship with other organisations continued to 
grow to address many issues. These include partnering with 
the Irish Blood Transfusion Service along with BeLongTo for 
provision of training to staff and members.

 ■ • Macra na Feirme’s Make the Moove pilot initiative, pioneers 
by members in North Tipperary continues to go from strength 
to strength. The project has received additional support from 
Healthy Ireland Tipperary to expand the project in 2020

75th Anniversary
During 2019, Macra na Feirme marked the 75th anniversary of 
its founding in Athy by Stephen Cullinan along with a group 
of 12 rural science teachers. The organisation is grateful to 
FBD Trust for supporting the organisation’s 75th Anniversary 
activities which included Reception at the National Capers Final 
hosted by Waterford Macra in February; our 75th Gala dinner 
after our AGM in Athy Co. Kildare; publication of A History in 
Pictures 1944-2019 edited by Joe Coffey. Many Macra clubs and 
county executives organised local events to celebrate the 75th 
anniversary including a commemoration by Kildare Macra at the 
Sundial in Athy; great debate at the Rally hosted by Avondhu 
Macra in October; along with a Presidential summer party event 
in Áras an Uachtaráin with USI; and many other events. We 
want to acknowledge the support of countless volunteers and 
members in celebrating the year and members of the national 
75th Commemorative committee including Flor Riordan, 
Seumas O’Brien, Terry Cooke, Kathleen Duffy, Una Ryan and Cara 

O’Mahony. They were joined by our two National Presidents that 
spanned the 75th year, James Healy and Thomas Duffy.

The Authentic Voice for rural youth
Macra na Feirme continues to enhance the organisation’s profile 
amongst the general public and policy makers to ensure that the 
organisation is recognised as the authentic voice of rural youth 
and young farmers, making the organisation attractive to new 
members.

As required under the Regulations of Lobbying Act 2015, Macra 
na Feirme records all lobbying activities and communications 
engages in with Designated Public Officials (DPOs). It has made 
the returns and submissions required by the Act. During 2019, 
Macra na Feirme submitted a total of 58 lobbying returns to the 
Lobby Registrar across eight government departments mainly:

1. Agriculture, Food & the Marine
2. Foreign Affairs & Trade,
3. Communications, Climate Action & Environment
4. Finance
5. Children & Youth Affairs
6. Business, Employment & Innovation
7. Community & Rural Development
8. Justice & Equality

During 2019, we grew the number of followers on our Facebook 
page by 7%, where 43 Facebook campaigns during the year 
each achieved a reach of more than 2,000 people with 12 
campaigns reaching between 8,000 and 15,000 people. Our 
entire collection of posts reached over 714,000 Facebook users 
during 2019.

On Twitter, Macra na Feirme grew its following by 9% and 
reached over 479,000 people with tweets and messages during 
2019.

d. Going Concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the Charity has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding 
the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the 
Accounting Policies.

Achievements and performance
a. Principal Risks and Uncertainities
Internal Control and Risk Management
Macra na Feirme operates in a wide variety of environments. As 
an organisation we are committed to having robust and effective 
systems and controls in place in order to ensure that assets are 
safeguarded and applied only for the purposes intended.

We seek to achieve this by recruiting qualified and experienced 
staff, providing them with specialised training and by giving 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)

The strategy commits us to eleven critical impact goals:

Goal 1
To establish significant, diverse and stable funding bases at 
national and club levels which assist in the achievement of the 
organisation’s strategic goals.

Goal 2
To increase active membership throughout the country, including 
in those areas where the membership has been low historically 
and in those target groups which have been hard to reach.

Goal 3
To increase the level of engagement of members with the 
activities of the organisation at all levels and to provide support 
to agreed organisation initiatives.

Goal 4
To provide services and supports to young farmers which are 
related to the needs which they themselves have identified.

Goal 5
To establish a system of Governance which is efficient, effective 
and responsive; which allows Macra na Feirme to actively 
participate in policy development across a range of relevant 
issues at national, regional and local levels; which complies with 
existing and emerging legal and administrative requirements; 
and which allows the effective management of organisational 
risk.

Goal 6
To generate an enhanced profile amongst the general public so 
that Macra na Feirme is recognised as the authentic voice of rural 
youth, including young farmers, and is thereby more attractive to 
potential members.
 
Goal 7
To generate an enhanced profile amongst decision-makers 
so that it is seen as a body to be automatically consulted and 
respected on matters relating to rural youth, young farmers and 
the rural community in general.

Goal 8
To create an organisational structure in which the role of each 
of its parts is clear to all and fit for current purpose and in 
which communication between all its parts is regular, clear and 
consistent.

Goal 9
To create an organisation in which the roles of volunteers and 
staff are more clearly defined and in which mutual respect is 
enhanced as a result of that clarity.

Goal 10
To develop a strong, positive base of past members and of others 
committed to the development of rural areas which supports 

the organisation financially and otherwise and which assists it in 
achieving its goals.

Goal 11
To comply with the processes and activities of the NQSF for 
Youth Work and other requirements of funders and regulatory 
bodies.

Where we work
Macra na Feirme has almost 200 clubs spread across the 26 
counties of the Republic of Ireland. Those 200 clubs support 
a wider base of communities as many clubs cross several 
traditional parish boundaries.

c. Summary of Activities and Achievements in 2019
Funding
One of the key objectives with our strategic goal on funding is to 
diversity the sources of funding the organisation
has. To that end in 2019, Macra na Feirme successfully expanded 
the number of financial supporters or grants obtained during 
2019.

 ■ We increased the commercial partners involved in the Land 
Mobility Service, welcoming Lakeland Plc to the Land Mobility 
Service joining existing partners FBD Trust, Dairygold, Glanbia, 
Aurivo and Meat Industry Ireland.

 ■ Two European Commission grants were received from 
Erasmus+, one a substantial two year grant project with six 
partner countries sharing knowledge on Land Mobility and 
generational renewals. The second grant provided exchange 
funding to support young Macra members engaged in an 
exchange programme with Belgian youth. Many Macra 
members who won competitions during the year participated 
in the exchange in December 2019.

Skillnet
We increased the range and scale of training offered by Macra 
Agricultural Skillnet during 2019. Macra Agricultural Skillnet 
provided training to 1073 people over 145 training events, 
48 training courses totalling the equivalent of 4530 training 
days. One of the many highlights in 2019, was the completion 
and launch of our CPD research report titled “Development 
and Implementation of an Accredited Continuing Professional 
Development Framework in Agriculture” by Minister for 
Agriculture, Michael Creed. This research was commissioned by 
Macra na Feirme and managed and funded by Macra Agricultural 
Skillnet with the support of Skillnet Ireland. The report identifies 
the critical components which should inform a CPD framework in 
Ireland through a review of existing CPD frameworks from other 
relevant sectors.

Membership Activity
The aim of our membership activity is to increase membership 
across the country especially in areas of low participation levels 
or specific target groups.
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There are clear distinctions between the roles of the Board of 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer, to whom the day-to-
day management is delegated. Matters such as policy, strategic 
planning and budgets are drafted by the Senior Management 
Team for consideration and approval by the Board who then 
monitor the implementation of these plans.

The members of the Board, cannot, under the governing 
documents, receive remuneration for services to Macra na 
Feirme and may only be reimbursed for incidental expenses 
claimed.

There are three Board Committees:

Finance & Audit: which monitors the organisation’s financial 
results and policies; the control and risk management systems;

HR & Remuneration: which monitors the HR policies and 
procedures and oversees pay and rewards policies across the 
organisation

Governance and Nominations Committee: which monitors the 
governance arrangements of Macra na Feirme, compliance with 
the Governance Code and monitors the nomination process for 
independent directors.

The membership of these Committees include members of the 
Board and external volunteers who provide their expertise in 
specific areas to aid Macra na Feirme.

The Board met nine times during the course of the year. May 
2019 was the end of the term of office of the Chairperson, 
Thomas Duffy who was also elected National President by a vote 
of all clubs in April 2019. A new Chairperson, Marie Harnett was 
elected at the 2019 AGM. The attendance below indicates the 
number of meetings attended out of the number of meetings 
eligible to attend.

Name Attendance Length of 
Service

Profile Summary

Thomas Duffy 13/14 2 years National President of Macra na Feirme. Dairy farmer.

James Healy 13/14 3 years Immediate Past President of Macra na Feirme. Business Development 
Manager.

Marie Harnett 14/14 3 years Member of Waterford Macra na Feirme. Auditor. Chairperson of the 
Board of Directors May 2019 to May 2020.

Una Ryan 14/14 2 years Member of South Tipperary Macra na Feirme. Stock Control and Project 
Manager. Treasurer May 2019-May 2020.

Sean Wallace 14/14 2 years Munster Vice-President Macra na Feirme. Member of Muskerry Macra 
na Feirme. Software Developer.

Tom Arnold 
(Retired August 1, 2019)

1/9 0.75 
Years

Independent director. Former CEO of Irish Institute of European Affairs, 
Former CEO of
Concern International.

Gary Freemantle 8/14 1.5 years Independent director. Former Director of Operations with AA Ireland. 
Former Head of Human Resources.

Colin Donnery 7/14 2 years Independent Director. CEO FRS Recruitment

Liz Mason 
(Retired May 11, 2019)

5/6 1.5 years Member of Limerick Macra na Feirme. Financial Advisor.

Seán Finan 
(Retired May 11, 2019)

4/6 2 years Former President of Macra na Feirme. Member of Charter Institute of 
Engineers. Chief Executive of IrBea

Cara O'Mahony 
(Retired May 11, 2019)

4/6 2 years Leinster Vice President Macra na Feirme. Member of Kildare Macra na 
Feirme. Primary School Teacher.

Thomas O'Donoghue 
(Retired May 11, 2019)

4/6 2 years Munster Vice-President Macra na Feirme. Member of Waterford Macra. 
Farmer

Sharon Corcoran 
(Retired May 11, 2019)

6/6 2 years North West Vice-President Macra na Feirme. Member of Mayo Macra na 
Feirme. Accounts officer.

John Keane 
(Appointed May 11, 2019)

7/8 0.5 years Member of North Tipperary Macra. Dairy Farmer

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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them effective support in carrying out their work. Clear policies, 
procedures and guidelines are in place. The Finance & Audit 
Committee review the financial policies and procedures manual 
annually and ensure that it remains fit for purpose and up to 
date.

Our systems provide a high degree of assurance that resources 
are properly applied. That said, no system provides absolute 
guarantees. For these reasons we have strong Compliance, Risk 
Assessment and Protected Disclosures policies and systems in 
place. All areas of Compliance are reported on a by-exception 
basis at each Board meeting where Compliance is a standing 
Agenda item. The organisation has a very comprehensive risk 
register which is regularly reviewed and updated as risks arise or 
change. In 2019 no instances of actual or attempted fraud was 
discovered.

Macra na Feirme’s risk register identifies and ranks significant 
organisational risks. It also considers how these risks are to 
mitigated, managed, reported on and monitored. Each risk is 
scored before mitigation and post- mitigation. During 2019, 
the Board placed an emphasis on risk management, and begin 
a process to review risks on an annual basis with the result 
presented the to the Board. The purpose of the review is to 
ensure that the organisation is not being exposed on an ongoing 
basis to an unacceptable level of preventable risk.

The major risks identified in 2019 are listed in order of 
significance:

Funding
The organisation is affected by public policy and in line with the 
strategic plan goals has sought to diversify income sources to 
reduce exposure to any single funding stream.
Changing nature of corporate sponsorship relationships, and 
potential reduction or loss of key sponsors was identified as a 
significant risk. Macra na Feirme has strong relationships across 
many sectors and provides investment returns on sponsorships 
received which are independently verified which make it 
attractive to potential new sponsors.

Macra na Feirme has in place strong financial controls, 
monitoring and budgetary procedures to ensure that all funds 
are expended correctly and in line with agreements with 
funders.

Compliance
Compliance and meeting the ever growing and widening 
obligations has become more demanding that ever before. 
Macra na Feirme addresses this risk by ensuring Compliance is 
a standard board agenda item. We ensure that our professional 
staff have access to ongoing staff training in areas of child 
protection, policies and procedures.

b. Financial Review
During the year, Macra na Feirme generated a surplus of 

€345,760 (2018: €115,649). Total income for the year was 
€2,685,801 (2018: €2,023,409). The restricted income received 
by the Charity relates to grants, corporate sponsorships and 
donations from members. The Charity received the majority of 
its income in 2019 from membership fees and Department of 
Children and Youth grants. The grants from the Department of 
Children and Youth were €498,009 (2018: €454,194). Income is 
analysed as restricted and unrestricted in accordance with the 
terms of the donor funding.

The resources expended are classified under the heading of 
cost of raising funds, charitable activities and governance costs. 
Resources expended amounted to €2,340,041 in 2019 (2018: 
€1,907,760). The main expenditure relates to staff costs and 
charitable activities.

Structure, governance and management
a. Constitution
Macra na Feirme is a company limited by guarantee. It promotes 
and fosters agriculture and rural development in all its clubs 
by assisting the personal development of young farmers and 
rural youth, by promoting social and cultural education, through 
provision of opportunity for learning the skills and theory of 
farming; by widening the interests of rural youth by increasing 
their store of general knowledge; and by encouraging leadership 
in preparation for responsible roles in farming and community 
associations in later life.

Macra na Feirme is a registered charity with the Irish Charities 
Regulator. The Macra na Feirme Board of Directors is committed 
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. During 
2019, the organisation embraced the requirements of the 
Governance Code for Charitable organisations as drafted by the 
Charities Regulator. The Board is committed to annually review 
compliance with the principles of the Governance Code.

There are 13 members of the Macra na Feirme Board of Directors. 
Ten non-executive Directors are elected by the members of the 
organisation while three independent non-executive directors 
are recruited through Boardmatch, appointed with specific skills 
and expertise. These elected Directors consist of the President 
and 3 regional Vice-Presidents of the organisation elected 
through ballot of the clubs along with the former President of 
the previous 2 year term, the National Treasurer and National 
Secretary who are elected by the National Council of Macra 
along with three additional directors at the organisations 
National AGM. Together, they are from a diverse range of 
backgrounds and bring a broad range of knowledge, skills and 
attributes to the Board. All Board members receive induction 
training shortly after appointment to familiarise themselves with 
their statutory responsibility, their role as Board members, the 
governance frameworks, Macra na Feirme’s risk environment, 
Macra na Feirme’s range of youth work services, policy formation 
and advocacy.
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in Macra na Feirme clubs around the country and the number of 
staff and volunteers engaged with Macra na Feirme.

Macra na Feirme will continue to seek out alternative sources 
of funding to diversity our base of funding, including growing 
the number of project specific applications made to various 
European Union sources of financing. Sourcing new corporate 
sponsors for key activities remains a priority of the management 
team during 2020.

We will continue to ensure that we are fully compliant with all 
regulation, compliance and governance requirements.

The Macra na Feirme Board recognise the need to develop an 
evidence-based approach for our engagement model with 
young people, and the change theory that underpins that model. 
This has already been acknowledged in the National Quality 
Standards Framework continuous improvement plans in 2019. 
During 2020, the Board will under ensure that we develop a 
change model and evidence base to support our programme of 
activities with young people and to ensure that we are achieving 
the very best outcomes in all areas of our youth work.

Macra na Feirme will continue to campaign and advocate for 
appropriate schemes, supports and funding for young farmers to 
meet the challenges of sustaining farmer income, generational 
renewal, climate action and CAP reform. We will always advocate 
for a strong and vibrant rural Ireland where every young person, 
farmer and non-farmer, has access to services in mental health, 
transport and broadband infrastructure and for appropriate 
funding for youth services.

Events after the Balance Sheet date COVID-19 
(Coronavirus)

Since year-end, the World Health Organisation (WHO) has 
declared COVID-19 a pandemic. While this is a constantly 
changing situation, the Board of Directors are monitoring and 
following the advice from the Government and the Department 
of Health.

This includes the introduction of social distancing protocols 
and therefore Macra’s offices are closed with all staff members 
workings remotely. In addition, all club meetings and 
competitions have been suspended along with all overseas 
travel.

The Board of Directors will continue to monitor the situation and 
take any measures necessary to ensure that any financial impact 
is minimised to the best extent possible.

Political donations
There was no political donations made by the Company in the 
current year

Accounting records
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities under Sections 
281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014 to keep adequate 
accounting records for the company.

In order to comply with the requirements of the act, a full time 
management accountant is employed. The accounting records of 
the company are kept at the registered office and principal place 
of business at Irish Farm Centre, Bluebell, Dublin 12.

Statement on Relevant Audit Information
In accordance with Section 330 of the Companies Act 2014, 
the Boards of Directors at the date of this report have each 
confirmed that:

 ■ there is no relevant audit information, being information 
needed by the auditor in connection with preparing its report, 
of which the auditor is unaware.

 ■ each Director have taken all the steps they are obliged to 
take as a Director in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is 
aware of the information.

Independant Auditor
In accordance with Section 383 (2) of the Companies Act 2014, 
the independant auditor, RBK Business Advisers, Chartered 
Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm, were appointed as 
independant auditor on 14 January 2020 and have expressed 
their willingness to continue in office.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue 
by the Directors and signed on their behalf by:

 
 
Marie Harnett Thomas Duffy
Director Director

 
Una Ryan
Director

Date: 15 May 2020
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Name Attendance Length of 
Service

Profile Summary

Claire Gough 
(Appointed May 11, 2019)

7/8 0.5 years Company Secretary, member of Meath Macra na Feirme. Clerical Officer

Noel Flavin 
(Appointed March 14, 2020)

N/A N/A Independent director. Head of Model Risk Management with Bank of 
Ireland Group.

Gerard Mahon 
(Appointed May 11, 2019)

7/8 0.5 years Leinster Vice President Macra na Feirme. Member of Offaly Macra na 
Feirme.
Commercial property specialist.

Fergus O’Rourke 
(Appointed May 11, 2019)

5/8 0.5 years North West Vice-President Macra na Feirme. Member of Leitrim Macra 
na Feirme.
Education Officer.

Shane Quigley 
(Appointed May 11, 2019)

7/8 0.5 years Member of Mayo Macra na Feirme. Self employed.

The majority of Board members had additional responsibilities 
in relation to Board Committees. These met during the year as 
follows: the Finance & Audit Committee met nine times; the HR 
& Remunerations Committee was established in July 2019 and 
met twice and the Governance & Nominations Committee was 
also established in 2019 and met twice.

a. Staff and Volunteers
Macra na Feirme is an equal opportunities employer. The aim 
of its equal opportunities policy is to ensure that all people 
receive equality of opportunity regardless of gender, race, 
religion, disability, nationality, marital/family status and sexual 
orientation.

Members and volunteers play a vital role in the provision 
of services and activities. Young people in Macra na Feirme 
benefitted greatly from the guidance, support and assistance 
of thousands of volunteers who gave their time, expertise, 
commitment and energy as club officers or county officers. 
Without this input, the activities of  the organisation would be 
greatly diminished.

Macra na Feirme also acknowledges with gratitude the work of 
its staff and volunteers during 2019. The highlights and major 
achievements during the year are due to hard work, dedication, 
commitment and belief of these people.

b. Our Objectives as Stated in our Governing Documents
In 2017, Macra na Feirme approved a new constitution for the 
company, it states that the main objectives are “to promote and 
foster agriculture and rural development in all its branches by 
doing all such things as are or may be incidental and conducive 
to the attainment of that object and, in particular, by:

a)  Assisting the personal development of young farmers & 
rural youth

b)  Promoting social and cultural education among young 
farmers and rural young people

c)  Providing opportunity for learning the skills and theory of 
farming

d)  Widening the interests of rural youth by increasing their 
store of general knowledge

e)  Encouraging leadership in preparation for responsible roles 
in farming and community associations.

f)  Maintaining a non-party-political and non-sectarian 
viewpoint. No action which would favour one political 
party or one religious denomination over any other shall be 
undertaken by any member on behalf of or in the name of 
the organisation.”

The main objectives are supported by subsidiary objectives 
“to provide learning experiences and personal development 
opportunities for its members, rural youth, volunteers and others 
through involvement in its programmes, activities and events; to 
foster the development by its members, rural youth, volunteers 
and others of essential knowledge, attitudes and skills necessary 
for effective living, especially in areas such as

a) Agriculture
b) community development
c)  Public speaking, travel, performing-arts, sporting and 

recreational activity,
d) democratic, civic and social activity
e)  to involve as members, rural youth, volunteers and others in 

facilitating the development of themselves, of others and of 
their communities.”

Plans for future periods
Macra na Feirme will continue to implement its Strategic Plan 
2017 – 2023. During 2020, the organisation will undertake a 
mid-term review of the Strategy to evaluate implementation 
progress to date along with making recommendations for 
strategic directional change where appropriate.

Aside from the mid-term review, the primary focus for 2020 is to 
ensure that we maintain the numbers of young people involved 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF  MACRA NA FEIRME IONTAOBAITHE  

CUIDEACHTA FAOI THEORAINN RÁTHAÍOCHTA
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Macra na Feirme 
Iontaobaithe Cuideachta Faoi Theorainn Ráthaíochta (the 
‘Charity’) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise 
the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the 
Statement of Cash Flow and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable Irish law and Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) ‘The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland’ as modified by the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP) “Accounting and Reporting by Charities” 
effective 1 January 2019.

In our opinion the financial statements:
 ■ give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial 

position of the company as at 31 December 2019 and of its 
surplus for the year then ended;

 ■ have been properly prepared in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and

 ■ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Charity in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
Republic of Ireland, including the Ethical Standard as issued 
by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority 
(“IAASA”) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in 
relation to which the ISAs (Ireland) require us to report to you 
where:

 ■ the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; 
or

 ■ the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements 
any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the charitable company’s ability to continue 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period 
of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the 
Annual report, other than the financial statements and our 
Auditors’ report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of 
the audit:

 ■ we have obtained all the information and explanations which 
we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit; 
the accounting records of the Charity were sufficient to permit 
the financial statements to be readily and properly audited;

 ■ the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting 
records;

 ■ the information given in the Director’s Report is consistent 
with the financial statements; and

 ■ the Director’s Report has been prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2014.

Based on the knowledge and understanding of the Charity and 
its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 
identified any material misstatements in the directors’ report.

The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in 
our opinion, the disclosures of Directors’ remuneration and 
transactions required by sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not 
made. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities 
statement, the Directors (who are also the directors of the 
charitable company for the purposes of company law) are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for 

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ report 
and the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and 
regulations.

Irish company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under the law, the Directors 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2014 and accounting standards issued 
by the Financial Reporting Council including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Ireland 
(Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland) as modified 
by the Statement of Recommended Practice “Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities” effective 1 January 2019.

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Charity 
as to the financial year end and otherwise comply with the 
Companies Act 2014. In preparing these financial statements, 
the Directors are required to:

 ■ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

 ■ make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

 ■ state whether applicable accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements;

 ■ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Charity will 
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Charity 
keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions of the Charity, 
ebable at any time the assets, liabilities and financial position to 
be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements and Directors’ report comply with 
the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to 
be audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud or other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the Charity’s website. Legislation in Ireland governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Directors and 
signed on its behalf by:
 
 
 
Marie Harnett Thomas Duffy
Director Director

 
Una Ryan
Director

Date: 15 May 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
(INCORPORATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Name Note Unrestricted
funds
2019

€

Restricted
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2018

€

Income from:

Donations and legacies 3 17,129 780,369 797,498 529,194

Charitable activities 4 1,040,182 720,296 1,760,478 1,436,564

Investments 5 1,573 - 1,573 2,143

Other income and income from other 
trading activity

6 126,252 - 126,252 55,508

Total income 1,185,136 1,500,665 2,685,801 2,023,409

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 7 212,957 - 212,957 144,694

Charitable activities 8 780,040 1,347,044 2,127,084 1,763,066

Total expenditure 992,997 1,347,044 2,340,041 1,907,760

Net movement in funds before other 
recognised gains

192,139 153,621 345,760 115,649

Other recognised gains:

Gains on revaluation of fixed assets - - - -

Net movement in funds 192,139 153,621 345,760 115,649

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 16 358,560 41,478 400,038 284,389

Net movement in funds 192,139 153,621 345,760 115,649

Total funds carried forward 16 550,699 195,099 745,798 400,038

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. The notes on pages 22 to 39 form part of 
these financial statements

such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are 
responsible for assessing the charitable company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the 
charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an Auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 ■ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

 ■ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion of the effectiveness of the charitable company’s 
internal control.

 ■ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of  accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Directors.

 ■ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the charitable company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our Auditors’ report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our Auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the charitable company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

 ■ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

The Purpose of our Audit Work and to whom we owe 
our Responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Charity’s Directors, as a body, 
in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the Charity’s Directors those matters we are required to state 
to them in an Auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Charity and its Directors, 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.

Ronan Kilbane
for and on behalf of
RBK Business Advisers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm Boole House
Beech Hill Office Campus Beech Hill Road Clonskeagh
Dublin 4
Date: 15 May 2020
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TO THE MEMBERS OF  MACRA NA FEIRME IONTAOBAITHE  

CUIDEACHTA FAOI THEORAINN RÁTHAÍOCHTA (CONTINUED)
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2019
€

2018
€

Cash flows from operating activities 425,502 226,306

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities (45,901) (62,873)

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (4,395) -

Purchase of investments (50,296) (62,873)

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities - -

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year 375,206 163,433

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 163,433 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 538,639 163,433

The notes on pages 22 to 39 form part of these financial statements

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note 2019
€

2018
€

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 12 70,212 44,852

Investments 13 28,365 24,953

98,577 69,805

Current assets

Debtors 14 421,328 283,618

Cash at bank and in hand 20 538,639 163,433

959,967 447,051

Creditors: amounts falling due within 
one year

15 (312,746) (116,818)

Net current assets 647,221 330,233

Total assets less current liabilities 745,798 400,038

Total net assets 745,798 400,038

Charity funds

Restricted funds 16 195,099 41,478

Unrestricted funds 16 550,699 358,560

Total funds 16 745,798 400,038

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Directors and signed on their behalf by:

   
 
Marie Harnett Thomas Duffy Una Ryan
Director Director Director

Date:15 May 2020
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Income (continued)

Investment income is included when receivable.

Incoming resources from charitable trading activities are 
accounted for when earned which is usually when the risk 
and rewards of ownership transfers; the sale can be reliably 
measured and it is probable there will be future inflows of 
economic activity.

Other income is recognised in the period in which it is 
receivable and to the extent the goods have been provided 
or on completion of the service.

2.3 Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to 
a third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of 
the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is 
classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made 
up of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including 
support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct 
costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly 
to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than 
one activity and support costs which are not attributable to 
a single activity are apportioned between those activities 
on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central 
staff costs are allocated on the basis of time spent, and 
depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset’s 
use.

Costs of raising funds are costs incurred in attracting 
voluntary income, and those incurred in trading activities 
that raise funds.

Charitable expenditure comprises those costs incurred by 
the Charity in the delivery of its activities and services for 
its beneficiaries. It includes both costs that can be allocated 
directly to such activities and those costs of an indirect 
nature necessary to support them.

Governance costs include those costs associated with 
meeting the constitutional and statutory requirements of 
the Charity and include the audit fees, costs of legal advice 
for trustees and costs linked to the strategic management 
of the charity including the cost of trustee meetings.

All expenditure is inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

2.4 Interest receivable
Interest received on the Charity’s investments are recorded 
as income in the year in which they are earned under the 
effective interest rate method.

2.5 Borrowing
Borrowing costs relating to the acquisition of assets are 

capitalised at the appropriate rate by adding them to the 
cost of assets being acquired. Investment income earned 
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings 
pending their expenditure on the assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All 
other borrowing costs are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Activities in the period in which they are incurred.

2.6 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Cost
Tangible Fixed Assets are recorded at historical cost 
or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation (and 
impairment losses if applicable). Cost includes their 
purchase cost together with any incidental expense of 
acquisition.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of 
tangible fixed assets less their residual value over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the following bases:

Fixtures and fittings - 15% Straight line
Computer equipment - 20% Straight line
Leasehold property - Amortised over 7 years

The Charity’s policy is to review the remaining useful 
economic lives and residual values of fixed assets on an on-
going basis and to adjust the depreciation charge to reflect 
the remaining estimated useful economic life and residual 
value.

Fully depreciated fixed assets are retained in the cost of 
the asset and related accumulated depreciation until they 
are removed from service. In the case of disposals, assets 
and related depreciation are removed from the financial 
statements and the net amount, less proceeds from 
disposal, is charged or credited to the SOFA.

Impairment
A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable.

Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed assets and 
their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. 
Impairments are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Activities.

2.7 Investments
Other financial assets include investments (including 
listed shares) which are not investments in subsidiaries, 
associates or joint ventures. Investments are initially 
measured at fair value which usually equates to the 
transaction price and subsequently at fair value where 
investments are listed on an active market or where non 
listed investments can be reliably measured. Movements 
in fair value are measured in the statement of financial 
activities.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

1. General information
This is the first set of financial statements prepared by 
Macra Na Feirme in accordance with accounting standards 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council, including FRS 
102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102) as modified by 
the Statement of Recommended Practice “Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities” effective 1 January 2019. 
Previously the company applied FRS 102 but did not apply 
the Statement of Recommended Practice “Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities”. As a result of the adoption of the 
FRS 102 Charities SORP in the current period a change in 
accounting policy was required so as to ensure compliance 
with the Charities SORP.

The Charity has applied the Charities SORP on a voluntary 
basis as its application is not a requirement of the current 
regulations for charities registered in the Republic of 
Ireland however it is considered best practice. As noted 
below, the directors consider the adoption of the SORP 
requirements as the most appropriate accounting practice 
and presentation to properly reflect and disclose the 
activities of the organisation.

These financial statements comprising the Statement of 
Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of 
Cashflows and the related notes incorporating significant 
accounting policies constitute the individual financial 
statements of entity for the financial year ended 31 
December 2019.

The Company is a Company Limited by guarantee and 
is a public benefit entity incorporated in Ireland with a 
registered office at Irish Farm Centre, Bluebell, Dublin 12 
and its company registration number is 19920.

Currency
The financial statements have been presented in Euro, 
which is also the functional currency of the charity.

2. Accounting policies
The significant accounting policies adopted by the charity 
and applied consistently are as follows:

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements of Charity have been prepared 
on the going concern basis, under the historical cost 
convention, in accordance with The Financial Reporting 
Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement 
of Recommed Practice Applicable to Charities preparing 
their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102) (Charities SORP(FRS 102)) and the Companies Act 
2014.

While the Charity SORP is not yet mandatory in Ireland, 
the Directors have elected to embrace the requirements of 

Charity SORP as a matter of best practice and have started 
the process of transitioning towards its full requirements. 
Where necessary comparative information has been 
restated as a result.

Going Concern
The financial statements are prepared on the going 
concern basis which assumes the Charity will continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

During the year the Charity generated a surplus of 
€345,760 (2018: €115,649). At the balance sheet date, the 
organisation has a net current asset position of €745,798 
(2018: €400,038) and unrestricted reserves of €550,699 
(2018: €358,560).

The Directors prepare annual budgets and cash flows to 
assist in financial planning matters for the organisation. 
These budgets and cashflows have been updated to reflect 
the Directors best estimate of the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic. These revised and stress tested budgets 
demonstrate that the organisation will have sufficient 
resources to continue in operation for a period of at least 
12 months from the date of approval of these financial 
statements and to continue to discharge its obligations as 
they fall due.

On this basis, the Directors consider it appropriate to 
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
Accordingly, these financial statements do not include any 
adjustments to the carrying amounts and classification 
of assets and liabilities that may arise if the Charity was 
unable to continue as a going concern.

2.2 Income
All incoming resources are included in the Statement of 
Financial Activities when the charity is entitled to the 
income, the amount can be quantified with reasonable 
accuracy and it is probable the income will be received. 
The following specific policies are applied to particular 
categories of income:

Voluntary income is received by way of grants, donations 
and gifts and is included in full in the Statement of 
Financial Activities when receivable.

Income from government and other grants, whether 
‘capital’ or ‘revenue grants, is recognised when the Charity 
has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions 
attached to the grants have been met, it is probable 
that the income will be received and the amount can 
be measured reliably. Grants, where entitlement is not 
conditional on the delivery of a specific performance by 
the charity is recognised within income from donations 
and legacies. Grants, where related to performance and 
specific deliverables, are accounted for as the Charity earns 
the right to consideration by its performance and included 
within income from charitable activities.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.15 Fund accounting (continued)

objectives of the Charity and which have not been 
designated for other purposes. Such funds may be held in 
order to finance working capital or capital expenditure.
 
2.16 Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement
The preparation of financial statements requires the 
Directors to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Charity make estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future. The resulting accounting estimates and 
assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

Critical areas of judgement:
Useful Economic Life of Tangible Fixed Assets
The annual depreciation of tangible fixed assets is sensitive 
to changes in the estimated useful economic lives and 
residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and 
residual values are reviewed annually. They are amended 
when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on 
technological advancement, future investments, economic 
utilisation and the physical condition of the assets.

Impairment of Debtors
The Directors make an assessment at the end of each 
financial year of whether there is objective evidence 
that a trade or other debtor is impaired. When assessing 
impairment of trade or other debtors, the Directors consider 
factors including the current credit rating of the debtor, the 
age profile of outstanding invoices, recent correspondence 
and trading activity and historical experience of cash 
collections from the debtor.

3. Income from donations and legacies

Unrestricted
funds
2019

€

Restricted
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2018

€

Donations

Rural Youth - 1,250 1,250 -

Grants

Department of argriculture - 75,000 75,000 75,000

Dept of children and youth affairs - 498,009 498,009 454,194

Leargas Grant 10,629 206,110 216,739 -

HSE Grant 6,500 - 6,500 -

- - - -

 

Total 2019 17,129 780,369 797,498 529,194

Total 2018   - 529,194 529,194

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.7 Investments (continued)

When fair value cannot be measured reliably or can no 
longer be measured reliably, investments are measured at 
cost less impairment.
 
2.8 Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at 
transaction price (including transaction costs) unless 
a financing arrangement exists in which case they are 
measured at the present value of future receipts discounted 
at a market rate. Subsequently these are measured at 
amortised cost less any provision for impairment. A 
provision for impairment of trade receivables is established 
when there is objective evidence that the company will not 
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the effective interest rate. All movements in the level 
of provision required are recognised in the statement of 
financial activity

2.9 Cash at bank and in hand
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits 
held at call with banks and other shortterm highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or 
less. Cash and cash equivalents are intially measured at 
transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost.

2.10 Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If 
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade 
payables are recognised initially at the transaction price 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

2.11 Taxation
Macra Na Feirme is exempt from taxation due to its 
charitable status in Ireland (Revenue Commissioners 
Registration No. CHY5725).

2.12 Employee benefits
The Charity provides a range of benefits to employees, 
including annual bonus arrangements, paid holiday 
arrangements and defined contribution pension plans.

Short term benefits
Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar 
non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the service is received.

Defined contribution pension plans
The Charity operates a defined contribution plan. A defined 

contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Charity 
pays fixed contributions into a separate fund. Under 
defined contribution plans, the company has no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
the benefits relating to employee service in the current and 
prior periods.

2.13 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the charity has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it 
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation; and the amount of the obligation can 
be estimated reliably.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a 
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an 
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due 
to passage of time is recognised as a finance cost within 
expenditure on charitable activities.

2.14 Contingencies
Contingent liabilities, arising as a result of past events, are 
not recognised when (i) it is not probable that there will 
be an outflow of resources or that the amount cannot be 
reliably measured at the reporting date or (ii) when the 
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within 
the company’s control. Contingent liabilities are disclosed 
in the financial statements unless the probability of an 
outflow of resources is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognised. Contingent assets 
are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable.

2.15 Fund accounting
Restricted Funds
Restricted Funds represent grants, donations, sponsorships 
and other income received which can only be used for 
particular purposes specified by the donors or sponsorship 
programmes binding on the Directors. Such purposes are 
within the overall aims of the Charity.

Unrestricted Funds
Unrestricted Funds includes general funds and designated 
funds and it represent amounts which are expendable at 
the discretion of the Directors in furtherance of the

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)
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7. Costs of Raising Funds

Unrestricted
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2018

€

Program competition costs 79,781 79,781 58,582

Public relations 62,989 62,989 17,059

Annual conference 59,992 59,992 49,441

Fundraising expenses 10,195 10,195 19,612

 

Total 2019 212,957 212,957 144,694

Total 2018   144,694 144,694

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)

4. Income from charitable activities

Unrestricted
funds
2019

€

Restricted
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2018

€

Membership fees 387,674 - 387,674 317,835

Program sponsorship 114,751 - 114,751 97,200

Skillsnet Ireland - training fund - 579,696 579,696 426,394

Recharge by Macra to Skillsnet 150,134 - 150,134 101,415

Land mobility - 140,600 140,600 107,145

Annual conference 59,805 - 59,805 54,029

Course fees 44,818 - 44,818 46,043

Milk levies 283,000 - 283,000 286,503

Total 2019 1,040,182 720,296 1,760,478 1,436,564

Total 2018   903,025 522,539 1,425,564

5. Investment income

Unrestricted
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2018

€

Investment income 1,573 1,573 2,143

6. Other trading income

Unrestricted
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2018

€

Competition fees 11,778 11,778 8,991

Club levy 10,800 10,800 6,060

National council levies 6,300 6,300 6,975

Club of the year 15,000 15,000 -

Sundry 42,812 42,812 8,585

Anniversary income 39,562 39,562 -

National fundraising intititive - - 24,897

 

Total 2019 126,252 126,252 55,508

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)
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10. Staff costs

2019
€

2018
€

Wages and salaries 648,181 671,529

Social security costs 69,946 70,424

Contribution to defined contribution pension schemes 23,150 22,084

741,277 764,037

The average number of persons employed by the Charity during the year was as follows:

2019
No.

2018
No.

Policy, Advocacy & Membership 10 13

Skillnet, Finance & Administration 6 6

Land Mobility 3 3

Communication & Events 2 2

21 24

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded €60,000 was:

2019
No.

2018
No.

In the band €60,001   €70,000 - -

In the band €70,001   €80,000 1 1

11. Directors’ remuneration and expenses

During the year, no Directors received any remuneration or other benefits (2018   €NIL ).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no Director expenses have been incurred (2018   €NIL).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)

8. Charitable activities

Unrestricted
funds
2019

€

Restricted
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2018

€

Wages and salaries 139,365 601,912 741,277 764,037

Grant and subscription 5,533 - 5,533 4,009

ER insurance costs 5,734 - 5,734 -

Anniversary costs 25,810 - 25,810 -

CEJA 11,658 - 11,658 12,582

Leadership activities 47,281 - 47,281 38,713

Land mobility program - 155,569 155,569 107,145

Postage and stationary 29,338 - 29,338 39,268

National council executive 51,675 - 51,675 19,923

Staff training 29,298 - 29,298 22,106

Advertising & recruitment 11,833 - 11,833 1,414

Rent and rates 59,258 - 59,258 60,905

Insurance 25,447 - 25,447 27,806

Telephone 12,702 - 12,702 12,101

Computer costs 41,405 - 41,405 21,887

Travel and subsistance 140,920 - 140,920 108,064

Legal and professional 48,605 - 48,605 16,981

Bank and lease charges 7,747 - 7,747 8,591

Doubtful debts 6,568 - 6,568 2,500

Sundry expenses 51,568 - 51,568 36,646

Skillsnet Ireland - 589,563 589,563 434,462

Auditors remuneration 7,749 - 7,749 5,904

Depreciation 20,546 - 20,546 18,022

 

Total 2019 780,040 1,347,044 2,127,084 1,763,066

Total 2018   457,422 1,309,644 1,767,066

9. Auditors’ remuneration

2019
€

2018
€

Fees payable to the Charity's auditor for the audit of the Charity's annual accounts 7,749 5,904

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)
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14. Debtors

2019
€

2018
€

Due within one year 7,749 5,904

Trade debtors 352,095 174,024

Other debtors 20,624 -

Prepayments 4,156 7,918

Accrued income 44,453 101,676

421,328 283,618

15. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2019
€

2018
€

Bank loans 13,500 21,000

Trade creditors 82,503 53,290

Other taxation and social security 20,690 17,617

Other creditors 127,645 2,003

Accruals 64,015 22,908

Deferred income 4,393 -

312,746 116,818

16. Statement of funds

Statement of funds   current year Balance at 1 
January 2019

€

Income
€

Expenditure
€

Balance at 31 
December 2019

€

Unrestricted funds

General funds 358,560 1,185,136 (992,997) 550,699

Restricted funds

Restricted funds 41,478 1,500,665 (1,347,044) 195,099

Total of funds 400,038 2,685,801 (2,340,041) 745,798

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)

12. Tangible fixed assets

Fixtures and fittings
€

Computer 
equipment

€

Leasehold property
€

Total
€

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2019 32,060 16,706 14,107 62,873

Additions - 45,901 - 45,901

At 31 December 2019 32,060 62,607 14,107 108,774

Depreciation

At 1 January 2019 5,757 5,210 7,054 18,021

Charge for the year 5,360 8,128 7,053 20,541

At 31 December 2019 11,117 13,338 14,107 38,562

Net book value

At 31 December 2019 20,943 49,269 - 70,212

At 31 December 2018 26,303 11,496 7,053 44,852

13. Fixed asset investments

Listed investments
€

Unlisted 
investments

€

Total
€

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2019 14,319 10,634 24,953

Additions 4,395 - 4,395

Impairment - (983) (983)

At 31 December 2019 18,714 9,651 28,365

Net book value

At 31 December 2019 18,714 9,651 28,365

At 31 December 2018 14,319 10,634 24,953

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)
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18. Analysis of net assets between funds (continued)

Analysis of net assets between funds   prior year Unrestricted
funds
2018

€

Restricted
funds
2018

€

Total
funds
2018

€

Tangible fixed assets 44,852 - 44,852

Fixed asset investments 24,953 - 24,953

Current assets 405,573 41,478 447,051

Creditors due within one year (116,818) - (116,818)

Total 358,560 41,478 400,038

19. Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash flow from operating activities

2019
€

2018
€

Net income for the year (as per Statement of Financial Activities) 345,760 115,649

Adjustments for:

Depreciation charges 20,541 18,021

Amortisation charges (983) -

Gains on investments 4,395 24,953

Dividends, interests and rents from investments (1,573) (2,143)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (137,710) 186,644

Increase/(decrease) in creditors 195,072 (116,818)

Net cash provided by operating activities 425,502 226,306

20. Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

2019
€

2018
€

Cash in hand 538,639 163,433

Total cash and cash equivalents 538,639 163,433

21. Analysis of Net Debt

At 1 January 2019
€

Cash flows
€

At 31 December 
2019

€

Cash at bank and in hand 163,433 375,206 538,639

Debt due within 1 year (21,000) 7,500 (13,500)

142,433 382,706 525,139

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)

16. Statement of funds (continued)

Statement of funds   current year Balance at 1 
January 2018

€

Income
€

Expenditure
€

Balance at 31 
December 2018

€

Unrestricted funds

General funds - 960,676 (602,116) 358,560

Restricted funds

Restricted funds 284,389 1,062,733 (1,305,644) 41,478

Total of funds 284,389 2,023,409 (1,907,760) 400,038

17. Summary of funds

Summary of funds   current year Balance at 1 
January 2019

€

Income
€

Expenditure
€

Balance at 31 
December 2019

€

General funds 358,560 1,185,136 (992,997) 550,699

Restricted funds 41,478 1,500,665 (1,347,044) 195,099

 

400,038 2,685,801 (2,340,041) 745,798

Summary of funds   prior year Balance at 1 
January 2018

€

Income
€

Expenditure
€

Balance at 31 
December 2018

€

General funds - 960,676 (602,116) 358,560

Restricted funds 284,389 1,062,733 (1,305,644) 41,478

 

284,389 2,023,409 (1,907,760) 400,038

18. Analysis of net assets between funds

Analysis of net assets between funds   current year Unrestricted
funds
2019

€

Restricted
funds
2019

€

Total
funds
2019

€

Tangible fixed assets 70,212 - 70,212

Fixed asset investments 28,365 - 28,365

Current assets 764,868 195,099 959,967

Creditors due within one year (312,746) - (312,746)

Total 550,699 195,099 745,798

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)
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22. Contingent liabilities
There were no contingent liabilities at 31 December 2019.

23. Capital commitments
There were no capital commitments at 31 December 2019.

24. Related party transactions
There were no related party transactions during the year.

25. Post balance sheet events
COVID 19 (Coronavirus)
Since year end, the World Health Organisation (WHO) has declared COVID 19 a pandemic. While this is a constantly changing 
situation, the  Board of Directors are monitoring and following the advice from the Government and the Department of Health. 

This includes the introduction of social distancing protocols and therefore Macra’s offices are closed with all staff members workings 
remotely. In addition, all club meetings and competitions have been suspended along with all overseas travel. 

The Board of Directors will continue to monitor the situation and take any measures necessary to ensure that any financial impact is 
minimised to the best extent possible.  

26. Controlling party
The Charity is controlled by the Board of Directors acting in concert.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)
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Macra na Feirme

Macra na Feirme, Irish Farm Centre, Bluebell, 
Dublin 12 Telephone: 01 426 8900


